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INTRODUCTION

In September 2008, Aberdeen City Council Archaeological Unit was commissioned by W.A. Fairhurst & Partners (for Aberdeen City Council) to carry out  archaeological monitoring and observation of test pit excavations carried out by geotechnical engineers assessing the nature of the site at South Kirkhill Farm, Balnagask, Aberdeen (NGR NJ 9500 0562; Figure 1). Although the ground works occurred prior to official planning permission for any redevelopment of the site, the historic and archaeological potential of the area necessitated the presence of an archaeologist during the excavations.
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Figure 1: Location Plan

HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

The site is located off St. Fittick’s Road, on its north side, within the Balnagask area of Aberdeen, on rising ground to the south of the River Dee and north-west of Nigg Bay (NGR NJ 9500 0562). The farmhouse itself, originating in the post medieval period, is not listed. The stonework making up the buildings and walls of the farmstead are of potential interest, with parts having perhaps been robbed from the nearby ruins of St. Fittick’s Church. In addition, a saddle quern stone has been located on the south face of the boundary wall, towards its eastern extent. It was probably used for grinding corn, and dates to around AD 500, showing the longevity of farming activity in the locality. Its proximity to St. Fittick’s Church has led to dubious speculations, including that it was originally a ’virtue seat’, or stool of repentance (Morgan 2007, 120). This suggestion has been written onto the stone (Plate 1). 
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Plate 1: Saddle Quern Stone in Boundary Wall

Legend and myth tells that St Fittick himself was thought to have been shipwrecked and scrambled to shore at the Bay of Nigg c. AD 650 to convert the locals, and refreshed himself at a spring, which became known as St Fittick’s well. 
In reality, however, St Fittick in all likelihood never actually existed and is probably an amalgam of two different saints: St Fiacre and St Fotin. The historical evidence is absolutely clear that there was a church here since the late 12th century. The fact that the church was then consecrated in the early 13th century suggests that it was a relatively new church (or possibly a newly built church on an older site, but given the general reorganisation of the church in the 12th century it is more likely that this was a new church in the late 12th century). The church and lands were gifted by King William the Lion to the Abbot of Arbroath Abbey, and they Abbots remained the feudal superior of these lands until the reformation in 1560. 
The historical evidence is also clear about settlement in the area from the 12th century onwards. There are occasional references to buildings associated with the Abbot of the Abbey of Arbroath. However there is no evidence that there was a ‘Summer residence…known to have existed in the area…’. 
There has been agriculture in this area since at least the 12th century. 

The post-medieval period saw a change in the agricultural processes used in the Nigg area, with the outdated infield-outfield system replaced by crop rotation, marking the end of runrig, and lime was increasingly used to dress the fields and farmsteads. This was a relatively late development in this area of Aberdeen, occurring at the end of the 18th century (Morgan 2007, 92). Although the origin of the farmhouse at South Kirkhill is no exactly known, the familiar I-shaped central outbuildings which survive today, and the L-shaped farmhouse to the east, is depicted on Ordnance Survey Mapping of 1867 (Figure 2), although it is annotated with ‘East Kirkhill’, South Kirkhill being to the west of the present farmstead at that time, and North Kirkhill to the north-west; along with the Old Manse and the Old Chapel to the south-east. The present South Kirkhill is the only survivor of these farmsteads, the Old Manse being demolished in 1965, and the chapel already having long been abandoned by the time of the publication of the map. 
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Figure 2: 1867 Ordnance Survey Map

The site continued to be farmed as East Kirkhill into the 20th century (Figure 3), with additional outbuildings constructed since 1867. 
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Figure 3: 1901 Ordnance Survey Map

The Corbett family farmed the site from the 1930s until the 1970s, and had a dairy farm of mixed Ayrshires and Friesians (Morgan 2007, 121). A vegetable garden existed in front of the farmhouse, and the family had two byres and stabling. The farm was a lot larger then and the surrounding area was dominated by a golf course. The farmhouse is the last survivor of all of the farms on the Balnagask Estate, presently owned by Aberdeen City Council, but boarded up and decaying. 

Balnagask Estate was owned from the 18th century by the Davidson family. 
METHODOLOGY

In the absence of a project specification, all ground works undertaken on-site as part of the geotechnical data retrieval process were monitored by a suitably qualified and experienced archaeologist following professional standards and IFA guidelines (IFA 2001). The site archive will be placed within a suitable repository, in compliance with standard practice. Aberdeen City Council support the Online AccesS to archaeological InvesitagationS (OASIS), and an electronic copy of this report will be available at the Archaeological Data Service website, hosted by York University.

The ground works consisted of the excavation of six test pits, all machine excavated, and all occurring on Monday 9th September 2008. The results of the observations are outlined below. The locations are described, an accurate plan being available with the geotechnical analysis of the site, as a separate report.

RESULTS

A total of six test pits were excavated under the archaeological monitoring programme, al relating to geotechnical sampling strategies to assess the stability of the soil, and suitability of the site for future redevelopment. Test Pit 1 was located to the just to the west of the entrance gate into the farmyard, 3m north-east of the St Fittick’s Road boundary wall. It had to be relocated from the original plans, due to the concrete surface of the yard area, and the lack of a breaker. The test pit measured 3.2m in length, 0.7m in width, and reached a total depth of 3.1m. It comprised a dark brown topsoil of 0.12m thickness which overlay a mid orange-brown silty sand deposit with stone inclusions of up to 20% which varied from c. 0.1- 0.2m in diameter. 

Test Pit 2 was located to the north-east of the ‘L-shaped’ farmhouse and the west of the small rectangular outbuilding at the eastern boundary of the site. It consisted of a thin (0.02m) tarmac layer overlying a mid orange silt with up to 40% stone inclusions 0.3m thick, which overlay a light orange sand. The test pit itself measured 3.0m in length, 0.7m in width and 2.9m in depth. 

Test Pit 3 was excavated to the north of the central I-shaped outbuildings, halfway between the buildings and the site boundary. The test pit was 3.4m long, 1m wide and 2.8m deep and comprised a loose mid-brown topsoil 0.5m thick overlaying a mid orange-brown silt 0.35m thick which included large fragments of building material. This overlay a light brown-grey sand with occasional large boulder inclusions, a deposit of 1.35m thickness, which overlay a light brown clay, observed at the base of the test pit. 

Test Pit 4 was located within the centre of the eastern half of the site, and comprised a pale brown sandy topsoil 0.2m thick overlying a dark brown silty subsoil 0.25m thick which in turn overlay a mid orange sandy silt with occasional glass fragments and stone inclusions. A number of cobbles were located at a depth of 0.5m at the south-eastern edge of the test pit, suggestive of a pre-existing drain or track way beyond the test pit in this area. The test pit measured 3.6m in length, 0.8m in width and 3m in depth. 

Test Pit 5 was excavated towards the eastern boundary of the site, equidistant from the northern extent of the site and the small rectangular outbuilding at the eastern boundary. The test pit measured 3.6m in length, 0.6m in width, and was excavated to a depth of 3.4m. It comprised a 0.58 thick deposit of dark brown silt which included occasional animal bone fragments and a metal fragments, probably relating to threshing machinery relating to the site’s use for agricultural purposes. This overlay a mid orange sandy silt, 0.75m thick which in turn overlay a pale yellow-brown sand. 

Test Pit 6 was located in the far northern corner of the north-eastern promontory of the site. It consisted of a loose orange-brown sandy topsoil 0.12m thick, which overlay a loose pale brown subsoil of 0.12m thickness. This deposit overlay a light orange-brown sand with occasional granite fragments, 0.68m thick, which in turn overlay a silty orange clay. The extent of the Test Pit 6 was 2.8m in length, 0.6m in width, and 3.6m in depth. Within the northern section, at a depth of 0.85m, a flat linear slab was observed with a modern plastic-coated wire beneath, perhaps indicative of the use of this part of the site previously as a dump.     

CONCLUSIONS

Despite the archaeological potential of the site, only the possible drain or track in Test Pit 4 was of archaeological interest. The deposits observed are consistent with agricultural land use of the area, and the sandy element with the close proximity of the sea, and the likelihood for sand to be blown and redeposited in the area. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

Due to the continued high archaeological potential of the area, and the good state of preservation of archaeological remains located at the site of the Old Manse (Cameron, 2004) by Aberdeen City Council Archaeology Unit in 2004, it is likely that further ground works in the area will require a pre-development programme of archaeological work, subject to the advice of the Keeper of Archaeology in association with the Planning Authority of Aberdeen City Council.
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